IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

EMMA JANE HESTER

APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2007-CA-00225

DAVID HESTER

FILED
JUL 19 2007

FFICE OF THE CLERK
SUPREME COURT

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

W. Brady Kellems (MSB# Joseph P. Durr (MSB# 136 East Chippewa Street P.O. Box 1406 Brookhaven, MS 39602 Telephone: (601) 835-2900 Facsimile: (601) 833-7174 Attorneys for Appellant

S 93-13-255

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Is the Conservatorship of Emma Jane Hester valid where the purported doctors certificate did not indicate that the person for whom the conservatorship is to be established was incapable of managing her own affairs, and further, where one doctor testified that the person for whom the conservatorship is to be established could handle most of her affairs; and
- 2. Whether an Order entered without notice and without posting of security, restraining the withdrawals of the putative ward's funds is void as a matter of law for failure to comply with Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 65.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On the 2nd day of October, Appellee herein, David Hester, requested from the Chancery Court of Franklin County, Mississippi, the appointment of a Conservator for the person and Estate of Emma Jane Hester. A trial was had on whether a Conservator was for the person and Estate of Emma Jane Hester was necessary, and evidence was presented and testimony was heard in the Chancery Court of Franklin County, Mississippi. According to Mississippi Code Annotated Section 93-13-255, two doctors certificates are required to before a conservatorship shall be established. However, Appellee simply submitted a written letter from one doctor, and a purported certificate from the other physician, neither of which indicated that the proposed ward, Emma Jane Hester, was incapable of managing her own affairs. Moreover, Dr. Ben Yarbrough testified that Emma Jane Hester was capable of managing most of her affairs. Appellant Emma Jane Hester contends that the Chancellor. nevertheless, issued her opinion against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, and improperly concluded that a Conservatorship was necessary, notwithstanding the failure of David Hester to comply with Mississippi Code Annotated Section 93-13-255, as well as the testimony of the learned physician.

Further, before the trial was had in this matter, the Chancellor, in her Order Setting Trial and Prohibiting Disposal and Transfer of Assets, dated October 24, 2006, precluded the purported ward, Emma Jane Hester, from accessing her own bank accounts and being able to provide for her own needs. The action by the Chancellor is tantamount to a temporary restraining order, which mandates notice and the posting of a bond. However, no security was posted, and notice was not given; both of which are required pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 65.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Conservatorship purportedly established for Emma Jane Hester is not proper and should be voided by this Court for the following reasons: (1) According to Mississippi Code Annotated § 93-13-255, two reputable licensed physicians must personally examine and certify in writing as to the medical necessity of appointment of a conservator. This statutory mandate was not followed, so the Conservatorship must fail; and (2) the overwhelming weight of the evidence, including the testimony of Dr. Ben Yarbrough, indicated that the proposed ward, Emma Jane Hester, was capable of managing most of her affairs. In order for a Conservatorship to be established, the evidence must show, pursuant to Mississippi Code Annotated Section 93-13-121, that the ward is incapable of managing her estate. The evidence presented in this case is contrary to the ruling of the Chancellor and goes against the overwhelming weight of the evidence; therefore, the conservatorship is invalid and must fail.

Further, before the trial on this matter, the Chancellor, through Order of the Court, prohibited the purported ward, Emma Jane Hester, from accessing her own funds. This measure is a temporary restraining order which requires notice and the posting of a bond pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 65. No bond was posted, and notice was not afforded to Emma Jane Hester. Therefore, the trial court Order is invalid as a matter of law.

ARGUMENT

I. THE CONSERVATORSHIP OF EMMA JANE HESTER IS CLEARLY INVALID ACCORDING TO MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED § 93-13-255 (1972) AND IS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

Generally, Conservatorships were instituted in 1962 to broaden the class of individuals who were legally recognized as requiring assistance in the management of their person and estate. Harvey v. Meador, 459 So.2d 288 (Miss. 1984). In Meador, the Court spoke to conservatorships, noting that guardians may be appointed for minors, or incompetent adults, persons of unsound mind, alcoholics or drug addicts; and further that the guardian is the legally recognized custodian of the person or property of another with prescribed fiduciary duties and responsibilities under court authority and direction. However, there are certain guidelines in place that must be followed before a conservatorship can be deemed valid. At issue here in Mississippi Code Annotated Section 93-13-255, which states in relevant part that

The chancery judge shall be the judge of the number and character of the witnesses and proof to be presented, except that there shall be included therein at least two (2) physicians who are duly authorized to practice medicine in this state... each of whom shall be required to make a personal examination of the subject party, and each of whom shall make in writing a certificate of the result of such examination.

Mississippi Code Annotated 93-13-255 (1972).

In the case *sub judice*, the Appellant, Emma Jane Hester, was examined by her primary physician, Dr. Ben Yarbrough, as well as a physician with which she was not familiar. Her primary physician, in his report, which is attached hereto as Exhibit "A", states that the Appellant is able to handle most of her affairs. Further, he remarks that her overall health

is "good." Even though this report is favorable to Emma Jane Hester, Appellant contends that this report definitely is not a certificate of which is required pursuant to Mississippi Code Annotated Section 93-13-255. Dr. Yarbrough uses none of the required statutory language and describes none of the characteristics necessary to convince this Court that a conservatorship is needed. Mississippi Code Annotated Section 93-13-251 states that

If a person by reason of <u>advanced age</u>, <u>physical incapacity or mental weakness</u> is incapable of managing his own estate, the chancery court of the county wherein such person resides may, upon the petition of such person or of one or more of his friends or relatives, appoint a conservator to have charge and management of the property of such person. (Emphasis added).

Mississippi Code Annotated Section 93-13-251 (1972).

The letter report of Dr. Yarbrough is not a certificate as contemplated of statue, but that notwithstanding the writing in no way indicates that Emma Jane Hester is a person that needs a conservatorship. Therefore, Appellant asserts that this letter from Dr. Yarbrough is not a certificate; accordingly, the statutory requirements of Mississippi Code Annotated Section 93-13-255 have not been met, and the conservatorship must fail.

The other examining physician, psychologist Linda Wilbourn, notes in her certificate that Emma Jane Hester is incapable of managing her own estate due to "below average intellect" and "memory problems." The psychologist's certificate is attached hereto as Exhibit "B" and incorporated herein by reference. This certificate is insufficient according to the law found in the landmark guardianship case of <u>Harvey v. Meador</u>. The Court in <u>Harvey</u> reiterates the statutory language in Mississippi Code Annotated Section 93-13-255 that a conservator may be appointed by the chancery court if a person by reason of advanced age, physical incapacity, or mental weakness is incapable of managing her own estate. Mississippi Code Annotated Section 93-13-251; See also <u>Harvey v. Meador</u>, 489 So.2d 288

(Miss. 1984). Here, the reporting psychologist mentions none of the requisite factors needed to properly petition the court for the appointment of a conservator of the person and/or estate of Emma Jane Hester. Further, the factors that are addressed by the psychologist, memory problems and below average intellect, are insufficient and insignificant in and of themselves to warrant the establishment of a conservatorship.

Clearly, the findings and reports of the two examining physicians (with one of the physicians, Dr. Yarbrough, noting that Emma Jane Hester can handle most of her affairs) in no way indicate that Emma Jane Hester needs the limitations and restrictions that are imposed by a conservatorship. Further, the letter submitted by Dr. Yarbrough is in no way a certificate recognized by Mississippi statutory law. Appellants submit that the statutory requirements of Mississippi Code Annotated Section 93-13-255 are elements or conditions precedent that must be satisfied before a management analysis as contemplated by the Harvey v. Meador case. Emma Hester contends and urges the Court to accept that the requirements of two doctors certificates is a statutory perquisite that must be complied with before requiring the putative ward to endure the expense and difficulty of litigation. In effect Mississippi Code Annotated Section 93-13-255 must be satisfied before a prima facia case can be met.

Accordingly, the conservatorship must fail because the statutory requirements were not followed; and assuming arguendo that the conservatorship is valid, which it clearly is not, then the chancellor's decision is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence and the conservatorship implemented by the trial court must fail.

II. THE CHANCELLOR'S RULING THAT RESULTED IN A TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDER MUST FAIL FOR NON-COMPLIANCE WITH THE RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE.

 $\label{thm:mississippi} \textbf{Rule of Civil Procedure 65 addresses injunctive relief. Rule 65 states that}$ that

A temporary restraining order may be granted, without notice to the adverse party or his attorney if (1) it clearly appears from specific facts show by affidavit or by the verified complaint that immediate and irreparable injury, loss, or damage will result to the applicant before the adverse party or his attorney can be heard in opposition, and (2) the applicant's attorney certifies to the court in writing the efforts, if any, which have been made to give the notice and reasons supporting his claim that notice should not be required. Every temporary restraining order granted without notice shall be endorsed with the date and hour of issuance; shall be filed forthwith in the clerk's office and entered of record; shall define the injury and state why it is irreparable and why the order was granted without notice. (Emphasis added.)

Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 65 (b).

From a practical as well as legal perspective it is inconceivable that a chancellor would grant a temporary restraining order which in effect limits a person subject to a conservatorship proceeding from accessing their own funds. The Order filed October 24, 2007, but issued approximately October 2, states "neither Emma Jane Hester nor any person living with her or associated with her business matters shall expend any funds . . . until trial be had on this matter on October 24, 2006." In this situation, Emma Jane Hester has not been given her day in Court, and is not under a court ordered conservatorship; however, she is prohibited from accessing her funds and spending money in the way she chooses. This action on part of the Chancellor is a temporary restraining order and said conduct is governed by Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 65. Furthermore, David Hester's attorney failed to certify to the court in writing the efforts made supporting his claim that notice should not be given to Emma Jane Hester nor her counsel. The court also failed to comply with Rule

65 in that the Order does not state why the temporary restraining order was entered and why it was granted without notice. Accordingly, the mandates set forth by Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 65 were not followed, and the Order must be judged invalid.

Further, Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 65 states that

No restraining order or preliminary injunction shall issue except upon the giving of security by the applicant, in such sum as the court deems proper, for they payment of such costs, damages, and reasonable attorney's fees as may be incurred or suffered by any party who is found to have been wrongfully enjoined or restrained.

Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 65(c).

The posting of a security is mandated by the above rule. However, there was no security posted in this instance. The requirement for security is in place for situations just like the one in this case; where an aggrieved son, David Hester, is attempting to exert control over his elderly mother, Emma Jane Hester, and will go to all lengths to accomplish said control.

The practical effect and actual result in this case being that the conservator has expended the ward's meager funds to force the implementation of a conservatorship on Emma Hester, while depriving Emma from accessing her funds to defend her rights.

Here, a temporary restraining order was wrongfully placed against Emma Jane Hester and the court nor David Hester followed the guidelines set forth by Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 65. Therefore, the temporary restraining order must fail.

CONCLUSION

Appellant Emma Jane Hester clearly demonstrates that the conservatorship must fail for a variety of reason. First, the purported certificate of Dr. Ben Yarbrough is not a certificate at all. The document provides none of the magic language found in Mississippi Code Annotated Section 93-13-251 that would approve the establishment of a conservatorship. Also, it is evidenced from the case law and statutory law provided above, that the trial Court erred in establishing a conservatorship for the person and estate of Emma Jane Hester. Even assuming that the report of Dr. Yarbrough is a certificate, which it is not, then the doctor's reports, especially that of Dr. Ben Yarbrough, evidence the fact that Emma Jane Hester is physically and mentally capable of providing for her own needs, and that she is able to manage her estate and own affairs.

Further, the temporary restraining order entered by the Chancellor is void as a matter of law. Rule 65 of the Mississippi Rules requires bond and notice in a situation that restricts a persons liberty without notice. However, these requirements were not met, nor were they waived by the Appellant; therefore, the Order is void as a matter of law.

Clearly, the statutory requirements and rules of civil procedure mandate strict compliance that the statutory required certificates be valid and that bond and notice be given for a restraining order pursuant to Rule 65 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure. These requirements were not met. Therefore, the conservatorship must fail.