IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

EMMA JANE HESTER

APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2007-CA-00225

DAVID HESTER

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

McGehee, McGehee & Torrey

Lane B. Reed (MSB#

Matthew M. Williams (MSB#

Courthouse Square

Post Office Box 188

Meadville, Mississippi 39653

Telephone: (601)384-2343 Facsimile: (601)833-7174

Attorneys for Appellee

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

EMMA JANE HESTER

APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2007-CA-00225

DAVID HESTER

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Is the Conservatorship of Emma Jane Hester valid where the doctors' certificates substantially complied with the relevant statutory authority required to establish conservatorship; and
- 2. Whether an Order by the chancellor in the midst of a continuance and before evidence could be fully heard on the matter, issued to protect the putative ward from the possibility of further damage to her estate is valid because of the chancellor's inherent power and duty to protect wards of the court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 2, 2006 the Appellee, hereinafter David Hester, requested from the Chancery Court of Franklin County, Mississippi, the appointment of a Conservator for the person and estate of Emma Jane Hester. Before the trial was had on this matter, the Chancellor, in her Order Setting Trial and Prohibiting Disposal and Transfer of Assets, dated October 24, 2006, issued an order to protect the putative ward's estate from persons intending to benefit from the estate other than Emma Jane Hester herself. (R. at 6). The order simply required an accounting or all accounts for the ninety (90) days preceding the hearing scheduled for October 24, 2006. (R. at 6). It specifically restricted any and all thirdparties from benefitting from, living off of, consuming or exhausting any of Mrs. Hester's resources. In no way did it preclude Emma Jane Hester from accessing her own accounts for her own benefit. On October 24, 2006, a trial was had on whether a Conservator for the person and estate of Emma Jane Hester was necessary, and evidence presented and testimony was heard. (R. at 6). During the trial, several witnesses, including her family physician Dr. Ben Yarbrough as well as several family members testified that Emma Jane Hester was incapable of managing her affairs. (R. at 47-88). Before ruling on the matter, the Chancellor considered Emma Jane Hester's health and the safety of both her person and estate. The Appellee, David Hester, contends that after weighing the presented evidence the Chancellor did properly find that Emma Jane Hester was incapable of managing her own affairs and was in need of a conservator for both her person and her estate.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Conservatorship established for Emma Jane Hester is clearly valid and should be upheld for the following reasons: (1) there is no magic language required to be the in physicians' certification letters, therefore, the certifications substantially complied with the language and as such are valid certifications comporting with Mississippi Code Annotated Section 93-13-255; and (2) the record clearly demonstrates that the chancellor's ruling was supported by the overwhelming weight of the credible evidence and should not be disturbed in the absence of manifest error.

Further, the Appellee contends that the chancellor's Order dated October 24, 2006 is not tantamount to a temporary restraining order on the putative ward and as such is not subject to the requirements of Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 65. This particular Order specifically allows Emma Jane Hester to access her accounts in order to provide for her everyday ordinary care and maintenance. Additionally, the issuance of this Order is well within the inherent powers of the chancellor as the ultimate guardian of wards of the court and as part of her duty to protect those who cannot do so themselves. Clearly, this Order and the Conservatorship for Emma Jane Hester is valid and should be upheld as such.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE CONSERVATORSHIP OVER THE PERSON AND ESTATE OF EMMA JANE HESTER IS CLEARLY VALID AND SUPPORTED BY THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED.
 - A. The chancellor properly admitted the certifications of Dr. Benjamin Owen Yarbrough and the psychologist, Dr. Linda Wilborn, as conforming with the requirements of MCA §93-13-255.

With the establishment of conservatorships in the State of Mississippi in 1962, the Mississippi Supreme Court broadened the class of people recognized as needing assistance in the management of their person and estate. *Harvey v. Meador*, 459 So.2d 288 (Miss. 1984). In addition to the Mississippi Supreme Court establishing the conservatorship, the legislature adopted §93-13-251 *et seq.*, permitting the courts to appoint conservators for persons incapable of managing their own estate by reason of advanced age, physical incapacity or mental weakness. At issue here, is whether Mississippi Code Annotated §93-13-255 was satisfied and thus a valid conservatorship was established for Emma Jane Hester. That section states, in relevant part that

The chancery judge shall be the judge of the number and character of the witnesses and proof to be presented, except that there shall be included therein at least two (2) physicians who are duly authorized to practice medicine in this state, or another state or one (1) such physician and a psychologist, licensed in this state or another state, each of whom shall be required to make a personal examination of the subject party, and each of whom shall make in writing a certificate of the result of such examination, which certificate shall be filed with the clerk of the court and become a part of the record of the case. They may also be called to testify at the hearing.

Mississippi Code Annotated 93-13-255 (1972).

In the present case, the Appellant, Emma Jane Hester, was examined by her primary physician, Dr. Benjamin Yarbrough, as well as a psychologist, Dr. Linda Wilborn. Both personally examined the Appellant and certified that she was incapable of managing her The Appellant contends, however, that neither of the certifications business affairs. conformed with MCA §93-13-255. This is simply not the case. In addition to this Court following the long standing rule that the substance of a document will control over its form, the Appellee also urges this Court to adopt a practical reading of this statute. It is the Appellee's position that a practical reading of MCA §93-13-255 would not require a physician to be learned in the intricacies of legal certification formalities as long as the official finding of the physician and psychologist definitively conveys that their opinion was based on their personal examination of the putative ward and based on their reasonable medical judgment. There is no "magic language" required by the statute, as the Appellant claims. As such, it is the Appellee's position that the Chancellor properly allowed the certifications of both Dr. Benjamin Yarbrough and psychologist, Dr. Linda Wilborn.

Yarbrough's certification should have been resolved by his live testimony during the trial of this matter. (R. at 47-54). The Appellant had ample opportunity at the trial to cross-examine Dr. Yarbrough on his findings. (R. at 54-66). Therefore, there could be no resulting prejudice from their admission into evidence.

B. The Chancellor's findings are supported by the overwhelming weight of evidence.

It is the chancellor's job to resolve factual disputes. *Murphy v. Murphy*, 631 So.2d 812, 815 (Miss. 1994). Therefore, this Court should not disturb a chancellor's findings of fact unless those findings are manifestly wrong or clearly erroneous, or where the chancellor applied the incorrect legal standard. *In re Estate of Ladner*, 909 So.2d 1051, 1054 (¶6) (Miss. 2004). This Court has previously held the position that the chancellor is in the best position to evaluate the credibility of the witness testimony and it has not been the practice of this Court in the past to replace the chancellor's judgment with this Court's own. *In re Estate of Carter*, 912 So.2d 138, 143 (¶18) (Miss. 2005).

The Appellee, David Hester, contends that this Court should follow the above line of precedent. This case reaches the Court with an extensive record of evidence presented in favor of the establishment of the conservatorship. The evidence presented and admitted at trial easily hurdles the burden of proof in this case, which amounts to a preponderance of the credible evidence. The chancellor found from the record shows on multiple accounts that Mrs. Hester is unable to manage her estate. During extensive questioning, it was clearly demonstrated that she was confused as to how many bank accounts she had, where they were located, and who had access to the account money. (R. at 101-12). On multiple occasions "loans" which she didn't even remember were made to her live-in son Glen without any terms of repayment. (R. at 123-24). With regards to the "loans," no direct proof that Emma Jane

Hester was cheated is required. *In re Conservator of Demoville*, 856 So.2d 607, 610 (Miss. 2004). "To require everyone seeking an appointment of a conservator to prove that the person at issue was being cheated by someone goes far beyond anything required by the statute." *Id*. There was also testimony during the trial, that on multiple occasions, Glen would violently shout at Mrs. Hester. (R. at 194).

As for the need of a conservatorship to be appointed over Mrs. Hester's person, there is extensive evidence that she lived in unsanitary and unsafe conditions of which she was unwilling to change. (R. at 223-28). The record clearly states that multiple freezers that were damaged since Hurricane Katrina, still remained full of spoiled food. (R. at 217). Additionally, there were a number of vehicles, purchased by her live-in son, Glen, that were parked at the house in such a manner that it would render emergency access to Mrs. Hester's home nearly impossible. (R. at 215). Since Mrs. Hester is 78 years old and has several medical conditions, including diabetes, that have a high probability of requiring immediate medical attention, the cluttered cars create a safety hazard for the putative ward by restricting medical access to her home. (R. at 213-14). Testimony was given by the Mrs. Hester's own daughter that she wished that her children could spend more time with their grandmother, however, she worried about her children's safety every time they would go to Mrs. Hester's home. (R. at page 211).

In Harvey, 459 So.2d 288 (Miss. 1984), the Court adopted a "management competency test" with regards to the proof required for the establishment of a

conservatorship which states: "A test of management competency can be answered by considering the factors of: ability to manage, or improvident disposition, or dissipation of property, or susceptibility to influence or deception by others, or similar factors. Harvey, 459 So.2d at 292 (emphasis added). There is nothing in that test that states a chancellor is required to consider each of those factors in order to appoint a conservator. In re Conservator for Demoville, 856 So.2d 607 (Miss. 2004). The chancellor may just find that one of those factors to be sufficient for an appointment of a conservator. Id. Again, with the burden of proof in a conservatorship matter only being a preponderance of the credible evidence, the Appellee contends that the evidence presented far exceeds this burden.

II. THE CHANCELLOR'S RULING, DATED OCTOBER 24,2007, REQUIRING A 90-DAY ACCOUNTING OF THE PUTATIVE WARDS ACCOUNTS WAS PROPER AND NOT TANTAMOUNT TO A RULE 65 RESTRAINING ORDER

The order issued October 24, 2006, does not amount to a Rule 65 Temporary Restraining Order on Emma Jane Hester. Unlike the inherent nature of the of a Rule 65 Temporary Restraining Order and Appellant's claim in their brief to this Court, the order did not restrict the putative ward from accessing her own accounts. The Appellant's brief attempts to mislead this Court by editing the language of this order in their brief. Page 8 of the Appellants brief cites this order as stating "neither Emma Jane Hester nor any person living with her or associated with her business matters shall expend any funds... until trial be had on this matter." However they neglected to include the portion of that sentence that allowed for the expenditure of funds to be used "directly for Emma Jane Hester's care and

maintenance, being normal routine everyday living expenses." It merely prevents others from exercising undue influence over Mrs. Hester and benefitting at her expense. The Order itself has no bearing on access to Mrs. Hester's accounts for use as part of Mrs. Hester's routine daily care and maintenance. As stated on page 7 of the trial transcript, all that is being required is an accounting of Mrs. Hester's accounts for the 90 days preceding the October 24, 2006 hearing. Also, the Appellee, David Hester, assumes the position that it is not only well within the chancellor's powers to issue such orders in this case, it is also the Chancellor's duty to provide such measures to ensure that those persons who are vulnerable to improper influence and cannot maintain for themselves are protected by the court. In Union Chevrolet Co. v. Arrington, 138 So. 593, 595 (Miss. 1932), referring to persons non compos mentis the Court noted, "[t]he court... will make for them every valuable election; will rescue them from faithless guardians, designing strangers... and in general will and must take all necessary steps to conserve and protect the best interest of these wards." This being said, "[t]he chancellor is the ultimate guardian of wards of the court." In re Constructorship of Cole, 958 So.2d 276 (Miss. 2007) (citing Jackson v. Jackson, 732 So.2d 916, 921 (¶7) (Miss. 1999)). The case sub judice exposes the principle behind these two perfectly. The chancellor's Order dated October 24, 2006 was her attempt to exercise her power and duty to protect this vulnerable ward. Additionally, it is the Appellee's contention that the Chancellor in this case exercised the least restrictive measures possible to ensure that the putative ward was adequately protected from further influence that might result in the dissipation of her property before evidence could be heard and the matter could be ruled upon.

CONCLUSION

The Appellee, David Hester, has illustrated clearly for this Court the numerous reasons why the chancellor's findings regarding the necessity to establish a conservatorship for the person and estate of Emma Jane Hester must not be disturbed. First, MCA§ 93-13-255 requires no "magic language" to be contained in the examining physician's certificate, thus the substance of the certificates should prevail over their form resulting in their proper admission into evidence. Secondly, since the chancellor had the ability to evaluate the witnesses and the proof presented during the trial, her findings should not be disturbed in the absence of manifest error. Additionally, the evidence admitted, taken as a whole, clearly meets the burden of proof for this matter.

Finally, the Order that Appellant attempts to characterize as a temporary restraining order, is no such thing. As the chancellor is the ultimate guardian of wards of the court with a duty to protect those who are unable to protect themselves, the chancellor was acting well within the realm of the inherent power and duty to protect Mrs. Hester by issuing the Order dated October 24, 2006. The Order does not, as Appellant claims, restrict Emma Jane Hester from accessing her accounts. The Order specifically provides that the can access her accounts to provide for her care and maintenance. Thus, the Order does not amount to a temporary restraining order which would be subject to the requirements of Mississippi Rule

of Civil Procedure 65. Given the above conclusion, the conservatorship in place for Emma
Jane Hester is valid and must be upheld.